
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
DISTRICT OF NORTH DAKOTA 

Case No. 15-CV-111_______ 
Faye T. Seidler, 

Plaintiff, 
 COMPLAINT 

v. (JURY TRIAL DEMANDED) 

Sanford; 

Sanford North;  

Sanford Clinic North; 

Sanford Medical Center Fargo; 

Sanford Research; 

Sanford Health Network; 

Sanford Health Network North; 

Sanford Health Foundation North; 

Sanford Health; and 

Sanford Health Fargo Region, 

Defendants. 

INTRODUCTION 

1. This is an action under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. §

2000e, et seq. (“Title VII”), and Title I of the Civil Rights Act of 1991, 42 U.S.C.

§ 1981a, to correct unlawful employment practices on the basis of sex, and to
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provide appropriate relief to Faye Seidler, who was adversely affected by such 

practices.  

2. As alleged with greater particularity below, Plaintiff Faye Seidler alleges that 

Defendants (collectively referred to as, “Sanford”) engaged in unlawful 

discrimination against Seidler, a woman who is transgender, because of sex by: (a) 

subjecting Seidler to different terms and conditions because of sex. Sanford had, 

and continues to maintain, a companywide policy or practice that discriminates 

against transgender female employees by precluding them use of a locker room 

that is consistent with their sex and/or gender, and/or by intentionally treating 

transgender females disparately from other employees with regard to the use of a 

locker room that is consistent with their sex and/or gender.  

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

3. Plaintiff bases her claims on Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. § 

2000e, et seq. (“Title VII”), and Title I of the Civil Rights Act of 1991, 42 U.S.C. 

§ 1981a (“Title I”. This Court, therefore, has federal question subject matter 

jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1343.  

4. Venue in this Court is appropriate pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391, as Defendant is 

doing business in this State and District and the unlawful practices alleged herein 

occurred within this State and District. 

5. Plaintiff filed a charge of discrimination with the Equal Employment Opportunity 

Commission and received Notice of Right to Sue on September 2, 2015. 

 

Case 3:15-cv-00111-RRE-ARS   Document 1   Filed 12/01/15   Page 2 of 11



3	
	

 

PARTIES 

6. Plaintiff Faye T. Seidler is a resident and domiciliary of Fargo, North Dakota. At 

all times relevant to this Complaint, Plaintiff was an “employee” as Title VII and 

Title I define that term.  

7. Defendant Sanford is a North Dakota corporation with a principal office address of 

801 N. Broadway, Fargo, ND 58122. Defendant’s registered agent is Paul Richard. 

Defendant’s agent’s address is 801 N. Broadway, Fargo, ND 58122. At all times 

relevant to this complaint, Defendant was an “employer,” as Title VII and Title I 

define that term. Defendant does business under the registered trade name, 

“Sanford Health.” 

8. Defendant Sanford North is a North Dakota corporation with a principal office 

address of 801 N. Broadway, Fargo, ND 58122. Defendant’s registered agent is 

Paul Richard. Defendant’s agent’s address is 801 N. Broadway, Fargo, ND 58122. 

At all times relevant to this complaint, Defendant was an “employer,” as Title VII 

and Title I define that term. Defendant does business under the registered trade 

name, “Sanford Health Fargo Region.” 

9. Defendant Sanford Clinic North is a North Dakota corporation with a principal 

office address of 801 N. Broadway, PO Box 2010, Fargo, ND 58122. Defendant’s 

registered agent is Paul Richard. Defendant’s agent’s address is 801 N. Broadway, 

Fargo, ND 58122. At all times relevant to this complaint, Defendant was an 
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“employer,” as Title VII and Title I define that term. Defendant does business 

under multiple registered trade names. 

10. Defendant Sanford Medical Center Fargo is a North Dakota corporation with a 

principal office address of 801 N. Broadway, PO Box 2010, Fargo, ND 58122. 

Defendant’s registered agent is Paul Richard. Defendant’s agent’s address is 801 

N. Broadway, Fargo, ND 58122. At all times relevant to this complaint, Defendant 

was an “employer,” as Title VII and Title I define that term. 

11. Defendant Sanford Research is a South Dakota corporation doing business in this 

State and District with a registered address of 801 N. Broadway, Fargo, ND 

58102. Defendant’s registered agent is Paul Richard. Defendant’s principal 

executive office is 1305 W. 18th St. PO Box 5039, Sioux Falls, SD 57117. At all 

times relevant to this complaint, Defendant was an “employer,” as Title VII and 

Title I define that term. 

12. Defendant Sanford Health Network is a South Dakota corporation doing business 

in this State and District with a registered address of 801 N. Broadway, Fargo, ND 

58102. Defendant’s registered agent is Paul Richard. Defendant’s principal 

executive office is 1305 W. 18th St. PO Box 5039, Sioux Falls, SD 57117. At all 

times relevant to this complaint, Defendant was an “employer,” as Title VII and 

Title I define that term. 

13. Defendant Sanford Health Network North is a North Dakota corporation with a 

principal office address of 801 N. Broadway, Fargo, ND 58122. Defendant’s 

registered agent is Paul Richard. Defendant’s agent’s address is 801 N. Broadway, 
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Fargo, ND 58122. At all times relevant to this complaint, Defendant was an 

“employer,” as Title VII and Title I define that term. 

14. Defendant Sanford Health Foundation North is a North Dakota corporation with a 

principal office address of 801 N. Broadway, Fargo, ND 58122. Defendant’s 

registered agent is Paul Richard. Defendant’s agent’s office is 801 N. Broadway, 

Fargo, ND 58122. At all times relevant to this complaint, Defendant was an 

“employer,” as Title VII and Title I define that term. 

15. The above-named Defendants (collectively referred to herein as, “Sanford”) 

employed Plaintiff. All Defendants have more than 15 employees.  

BACKGROUND FACTS 

16. Plaintiff is a female. 

17. Plaintiff has been diagnosed with gender dysphoria. 

18. Plaintiff is transgender, having been assigned the male sex at birth but having a 

female gender identity. 

19. By definition, transgender individuals identify and conform to a sex and gender 

different from the sex assigned to them at birth, contradicting dominant cultural 

expectations, assumptions, and norms that an individual assigned one sex at birth 

will or should identify with that same sex as their gender identity throughout their 

life.  

20. In or about September 2013, Plaintiff began hormone therapy as part of her gender 

transition. 

21. Plaintiff commenced employment with Defendants in Spring 2014. 
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22. When she applied for work with Defendants and for the first few months of her 

employment, Plaintiff presented as male (e.g., she had a traditionally male name).  

23. In May 2014, during her 90-day review, Plaintiff informed Defendants’ 

management that she was a female and that she would be going through a 

thoughtful process of notifying those who considered her to be a male of her actual 

sex and gender. In essence, Plaintiff explained that she would eventually begin to 

present as female at work. 

24. Over the next few months, Plaintiff thoughtfully and thoroughly explained to 

Defendants what such a transition at work could look like, and engaged them for 

the purposes of avoiding sex and/or gender discrimination. 

25. Plaintiff initially asserted that although she had a right to use of Defendants’ 

female locker rooms on the same terms and conditions as other employees, she 

would attempt to forgo use of the locker rooms for a short period of time in 

recognition of her workplace transition. 

26. In November 2014, Plaintiff informed Defendants’ management, in writing, that 

she wanted immediate access to the female locker rooms. She reminded 

Defendants that her birth certificate, driver’s license, and other state and federal 

government documents clearly identified her sex/gender as female. 

27. For several months following Plaintiff’s request for appropriate locker room 

access, Defendants continued to delay responding to the request. Plaintiff tried to 

access the correct locker room for her sex/gender several times by using her key 

card on the door, but was denied entry. Paradoxically, during that time, even 
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though Defendants had appropriately reclassified Plaintiff as a female in their own 

records, Plaintiff was still only given access to the male locker room, which of 

course didn’t match her actual sex and/or gender. 

28. In early December, Plaintiff again wrote to Defendants, requesting a response to 

her request for female locker room access. Defendants still did not respond, and 

Plaintiff continued to be unable to access the correct locker room with her key 

card. 

29. In mid-December, Plaintiff yet again wrote to Defendants, requesting a response 

to her request for female locker room access. Defendants still did not respond, and 

Plaintiff continued to be unable to access the correct locker room with her key 

card. 

30. Because Defendants continued denying Plaintiff access to the locker room 

consistent with her sex/gender, in January 2015, Plaintiff was storing her coat in 

the break room instead of the locker rooms like the rest of the employees were 

able to do. On January 12, 2015, Plaintiff’s down jacket (valued at approximately 

$300) was either intentionally or unintentionally vandalized/damaged with ink. 

31. Also in January 2015, a Defendant supervisor sent an email to at least 16 

employees expressing exasperation with Plaintiff’s requests to be treated as a 

female in the workplace. The supervisor complained that she wasn’t, “dealing with 

this well,” and that she didn’t, “want to be schooled on transgender[.]” The 

supervisor went on to write that she didn’t, “feel it should be in our department no 
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different [sic] that the [sic] life style choices of a gay, lesbian, or promiscuous 

heterosexuals. . .”  

32. Upon information and belief, this supervisor referenced in the immediately 

preceding was never disciplined, formally or informally, for her conduct. 

33. The email sent by the supervisor provides a glimpse of the attitudes ranging from 

fear and uncertainty to hostility and dislike that pervaded Defendants’ 

management and perhaps explains why Defendants continued to deny Plaintiff 

access to the locker room consistent with her gender on the same terms and 

conditions as other employees.  

34. On February 3, 2015, Plaintiff called Defendants’ management on the telephone 

and complained about the continued disparate treatment. While she recognized 

that Defendants and some Defendant employees were making some genuine good-

faith efforts to treat her equally, she emphasized to Defendants that she was still 

not being treated equally at work. Defendants’ management did not have a 

substantive response for Plaintiff, saying only that, “things take time.” 

35. Ultimately, Plaintiff left her employment with Defendants in Spring 2015, feeling 

that she was unable to continue working in a workplace environment that didn’t 

fully treat her in a manner consistent with her sex/gender equally to other 

employees. 

COUNT 1: 
 

SEX/GENDER DISCRIMINATION; INTENTIONAL DISPARATE 
TREATMENT BECAUSE OF SEX/GENDER 
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42 U.S.C. § 2000e et seq.; 42 U.S.C. § 1981a et seq. 
 
36. The allegations contained in the foregoing paragraphs are hereby incorporated 

herein by reference. 

37. Defendants violated 42 U.S.C. § 2000e et seq. and 42 U.S.C. § 1981a et seq., by 

subjecting Plaintiff to disparate terms and conditions because of sex. Despite 

uncontroverted evidence that Plaintiff’s gender identity was female and that 

Plaintiff had begun living and working full-time as female as part of a gender 

transition, Defendants refused to allow Plaintiff to use the women’s locker room 

and forced her to use the men’s locker room instead. Furthermore, Plaintiff 

38. Defendants imposed these terms and conditions of employment due to sex-based 

considerations – specifically, because: Plaintiff is a woman who is transgender; 

and/or,  because of Plaintiff’s transition from male to female; and/or,  because 

Plaintiff did not conform to Defendants’ sex- or gender-based  preferences, 

expectations, or stereotypes of women; and/or,  because of Defendants’ sex- or 

gender-based expectations or stereotypes related to individuals assigned the male 

sex at birth.   

39. The effect of the practices complained of in the foregoing paragraphs has been to 

discriminate against Plaintiff with respect to the terms and conditions of her 

employment and/or to limit, segregate, and classify Plaintiff in a way that deprives 

or tends to deprive her of equal employment opportunities and otherwise adversely 

affect her status as an employee because of sex.  
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40. The unlawful employment practices complained of in the foregoing paragraphs 

were intentional.  

41. The unlawful employment practices complained of in the foregoing paragraphs 

were done with malice or with reckless indifference to the federally protected 

rights of Plaintiff.  

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff requests that this Court: 

Enter a judgment in favor of Plaintiff and against Defendants, as follows: 

1. An order granting Plaintiff judgment against Defendants; 

2. An order granting permanent injunction enjoining Defendants, their 

officers, agents, servants, employees, attorneys, and all persons in active 

concert or participation with them, from engaging in the unlawful conduct 

of discriminating against employees who have undergone, or are 

undergoing, a gender transition.  

3. An order requiring Defendants to institute and carry out policies, practices, 

and programs that provide equal employment opportunities for employees 

who have undergone, or are undergoing, a gender transition and which 

eradicate the effects of its past and present unlawful employment practices.  

4. An order granting other affirmative relief necessary to eradicate the effects 

of Defendants’ unlawful employment practices.  

5. An order for Defendants to make Plaintiff whole by providing 

compensation for past and future non-pecuniary losses resulting from the 
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unlawful practices complained of in the foregoing paragraphs, including 

emotional pain, suffering, inconvenience, loss of enjoyment of life, and 

humiliation, in amounts to be determined at trial.  

6. An order for Defendants to pay Plaintiff punitive damages for its malicious 

or reckless conduct described in the foregoing paragraphs, in amounts to be 

determined at trial.  

7. An order granting such further relief as the Court deems necessary and 

proper in the public interest.  

8. An order for Defendants to pay Plaintiff’s costs, interest and attorneys’ 

fees.  

9. An order for Defendants to pay any and all further relief available in equity 

and at law.  

Plaintiff demands a jury trial. 

Dated: Dec. 1, 2015     MADIA LAW LLC 
 
 
 

/s/Joshua A. Newville  
       Joshua A. Newville 

MN #395221 | WI #1092059 
       Admitted to D. N.D. 
       345 Union Plaza 
       333 Washington Avenue North 
       Minneapolis, MN  55401 
       Ph:  612.349.2743 
       Fax:  612.235.3357 
       joshuanewville@madialaw.com 
       ATTORNEY FOR PLAINTIFF 
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